Dementia and Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Communities

Report of a Health and Wellbeing Alliance project

Samir Jeraj and Jabeer Butt, 2018

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements2
Key Messages
Introduction4
Partnership4
Resources5
Community events
Professional Events
Research engagement9
Themes from the events11
Carers11
Gender11
Stigma11
New technologies12
Inequality12
Workforce12
Commissioning13
Diagnosis13
Prevention13
Specialist Housing14
VCSE role14
What next
Recommendations
Appendix – Resources

Acknowledgements

This project was supported and delivered with the help of a number of organisations and individuals. It is impossible to name them all, but here are a selection of those who gave a significant amount of support: David Truswell from DACE, Akhlak Rauf from Meri Yadaain, Shahid Mohammed from BME Health and Wellbeing, Sarah Sweeney from Friends, Families and Travellers, Rodie Garland from Faith Action, Ripaljeet Kaur from Touchstone Support, Heather Nelson from the Black Health Initiative, Mary Tilki from Irish in Britain, Jazz Browne from Nubian Life, Tom Lam and Eddie Chan from the Chinese National Healthy Living Centre, Clenton Farquharson from TLAP, Trish Caverley from the Dementia Wellbeing Service, Subitha Baghirathan from UWE, Dr Jay Chauhan, Alex and Janet Jadevji from Yecco, Nuzhat Ali from Public Health England, Alastair Burn from DH, and the service users and carers who took the time to tell us their stories.

Key Messages

- The number of black and minority ethnic people with dementia is increasing, and increasing faster than for the White British community.
- Inequalities between and within communities are having a significant impact on black and minority ethnic people living with dementia and their families. There continue to be challenges at all stages of the dementia pathway, from prevention through diagnosis, care and end of life.
- Knowledge of dementia is still quite poor across communities, and even among professionals. This has a significant impact on issues such as prevention.
- Black and minority ethnic carers are still poorly supported in most of England and continue to face barriers to participation.
- Services in some areas are working to address these issues, and voluntary sector organisations have often led the way in developing services that meet the needs of their communities.
- Where services have been most effective is where local partnerships have been able to coordinate activities and use limited resources to their best effect. However, some areas are further ahead than others. Similarly, some areas have few, if any, local voluntary sector organisations with the capacity to undertake such work unsupported.
- Where services and support are well-coordinated and resourced, it can have a transformational effect on individuals and families.

Introduction

The project came out of the October 2016 roundtable on dementia and BAME communities. Participants in the roundtable came together at the end of the event and in the following weeks to develop an action plan to be taken forward by partners. Resources for delivery of parts of the action plan were identified through the additional funding stream available to Health and Wellbeing Alliance members. The Race Equality Foundation, in partnership with Faith Action and Friends, Families and Travellers, successfully bid for the funding through this process.

The project set out five key areas of work to progress over the following six months: partnership, resources, professional events, community events, and research engagement. This report will set out the key activities and outputs from these areas of work before going on to discuss the themes that emerged from the events.

Partnership

Delivery of the action plan requires a partnership approach in order to secure the resources, reach into communities, and access into services, to secure the necessary scale and pace of change. The Foundation sought to build on the network developed by the Dementia Alliance for Culture and Ethnicity (DACE), as well as developing local networks and practitioner networks through our events, and enabling these groups to engage with each other.

We were able to engage national organisations, both large organisations such as the Dementia Action Alliance, the Housing Learning and Improvement Network (LIN), and smaller organisations such as <u>Dementia Adventure</u>. Several of these connections have led to further work, for example the Foundation is now working with Housing LIN and Dr Nigel de Noronha on an analysis on the experience of housing deprivation for black and minority ethnic older people, and with the New Policy Institute on low income black and minority ethnic older people. We were also able to connect with Diverse Cymru at the Bristol event and establish a link with their three year work plan on dementia and black and minority ethnic communities. We engaged with the Skills for Care Dementia Meaningful Care workforce Group around how their new framework could support better care for black and minority ethnic people with dementia.

At a local level, the events offered a good opportunity to develop relationships and partnership with local organisations. We engaged with a range of organisations including Bristol Black carers, Dhek Bhal, Culture Dementia UK and local faith organisations. There were also opportunities to re-engage with people who had been working in this area. For example, a black and minority ethnic carers support group in Tameside being organised by someone who had been involved with the now defunct national black carer's network.

In terms of further influencing the health and care system beyond the original partners, the project has led to discussions with the Care Quality Commission on creating a resource for use by inspection staff. Similarly, NICE have expressed an interest in the work to feed into their guidance on *Dementia: assessment, management and support for people living with dementia and their carers*.

Since the formal end of the project, we have continued discussions with DACE on how they can develop as an organisation to become a representative national voice on the issue of dementia and black and minority ethnic issues. DACE has formalised its legal structure and is currently working through its governance to enable it to take on funding and delivery of projects in partnership.

Resources

Through both desk-based searches and engagement with partners at all levels, we were able to identify a significant number of resources developed specifically in response to dementia in black and minority ethnic communities. We developed an online list of these resources during the course of the project, and it is currently being updated to include the presentations from the events, relevant publications, vid, pamphlets, and research papers.

For example, the <u>Dementia Wellbeing Service</u> in Bristol had produced a number of videos in community languages, with members of the community, running through basic questions about dementia. These were available in Cantonese, English, Polish, Punjabi, Somali and Urdu.

The <u>Chinese National Healthy Living Centre</u> developed and popularised a new word for dementia. This helped to reduce stigma as the most commonly used words in Cantonese to describe dementia were associated with being mentally ill or having a learning disability.

We also commissioned a number of pieces of work to bring together evidence on specific topics and for specific communities. These included: dementia and end of life care, dementia and carers, and a series of pieces on the experiences and issues for specific communities: South Asian, Chinese, Caribbean, Irish and Jewish. David Truswell also produced an updated version of his 2013 briefing on dementia and black and minority ethnic communities, looking at developments over the past five years. These are currently being quality assured, before being designed and published.

Dementia and black and minority ethnic community briefings:

Dementia and black and minority ethnic communities – where are we now? (updated) David Truswell – Dementia Alliance for Culture and Ethnicity (DACE)

End of life care - Dr Jonathan Koffman, King's College London

Access to services - Jo Moriarty (forthcoming), King's College London

Carers – Dr Sahdia Parveen and Professor Jan Oyebode, University of Bradford

Specific communities' pieces:

- South Asian Akhlak Rauf, Meri Yadaain
- Chinese Eddie Chan, Chinese National Healthy Living Centre
- Caribbean David Truswell, DACE
- Irish Mary Tilki, Irish in Britain
- Jewish Padraic Garrett, Jewish Care

Community events

Six community events were organised in London, Leeds, Rochdale, Birmingham, Peterborough, and Bristol. These were intended to primarily reach community organisations and members of the public. The programmes included service provider and service user presentations, as well as some amount of basic information about dementia and black and minority ethnic communities. This then led to whole group discussion.



The London event was chaired by Jabeer Butt. It heard from David Truswell, Tom Lam from the Chinese National Healthy Living Centre, and Ade - a service user from Friends, Families and Travellers.

Tom Lam explained how the Chinese National Healthy Living Centre had developed an awareness and support service for Chinese people and their carers over three years. This involved working with their member organisations, particularly Chinese community centres, to put together an offer that included workshops, starting reminiscence tea houses, training, multi-lingual support, befriending, referrals, and a carer's support group. They also worked to develop and popularise a new word for dementia, as the existing vocabulary for dementia was derogatory and stigmatising.

Ade took us through his journey from diagnosis, where the initial effect and impact was to steer him into a deep depression and alcohol abuse. However, he managed to bring together family and friends with support services in a way that now means he is able to do the things he wants to do, irrespective of his condition.



The Leeds event was chaired by Heather Nelson from the Black Health Initiative. It heard from Akhlak Rauf and Ripaljeet Kaur. We had secured two service users and one carer but unfortunately none of them were able to make the event on the day, underlining the continued difficulties to participation faced by carers and service users.

The Birmingham event was chaired by Clenton Farquharson – the chair of Think Local Act Personal, David Truswell, and Dr Jay Chauhan – a former housing

association chief executive who is now working on care in the West Midlands. Ronald Ferguson, a service user, also presented to the session.

Ronald explained his struggle to find and put together the services and support he needs. In particularly, he was concerned about financial management and his independence.

The Peterborough event was chaired by Jabeer Butt. It heard from David Truswell and Samir Jeraj from the Race Equality Foundation.

The Bristol event was chaired by Jabeer Butt. We worked with the Dementia Wellbeing Service and Subitha Baghirathan from UWE. Two carers supported by the Dementia Wellbeing Service presented at the event, Min and Khadra.

Subitha outlined the nine month research project undertaken by UWE together with the local council, CCG, and voluntary sector organisations. The research was informed by eight focus groups and 48 interviews and revealed differences between and within black and minority ethnic communities, as well as commonalities such as lack of knowledge about risk factors & prevention; and growing dementia awareness among leaders of BME-led VCSOs. The report had 18 recommendations, which were taken on by a city-wide working group. This model of city-wide collaboration and cooperation could be applied to other parts of the country.

We also commissioned Shahid Mohammed and BME Health and wellbeing to organise two events in Rochdale. One was at a women's group (Bengali, Ugandan and Pakistani) and the other was at the BACP men's group (Pakistani, Kashmiri and Bengali). All the sessions were delivered in English/Punjabi/Urdu and Bangla.



Attendees at one of the Rochdale events organised by BME Health and Wellbeing

Professional Events

Three events were organised in Leeds, London and Bristol with the aim of reaching professionals within health and social care. David Truswell designed a programme to take participants through the pathway, exploring the issues for black and minority ethnic people at each stage while also examining what works to address these issues. Each event also heard from an experienced local practitioner working with black and minority ethnic people with dementia.

In Leeds this was Akhlak Rauf from Meri Yadaain. Akhlak outlined some of the common issues facing black and minority ethnic communities, such as late and inaccurate diagnosis, access to services, and the impact on family carers. He

explained how an approach that learns good practice, tailors its approach, invests resources, engages carers and involves commissioners, can help overcome the inequalities between and within groups.

In London Jazz Browne from Nubian Life presented on the development of their service from a social and luncheon club to a day care organisation. Many of the original members had never planned to grow old in the UK. Opening a day centre allowed their needs to be met. Now 75% of members have dementia, and the



service has developed to meet those needs using the 5F Service Framework.

In Bristol, Trish Caverley from the Dementia Wellbeing service took the group through how the service employed three community development workers to work with people and communities that were under represented. This informed development of a BAME organisational plan, along with some local research by UWE. Consultation events pointed to the need for a simple video resource to act as a starting point for conversations at community events. Films in six community languages were produced, reinforced by leaflets, and used in combination with Q&A sessions at community and faith venues. The service also worked with local BAME radio stations, and with medical professionals within communities to disseminate information. The Service is part of the BME Dementia Working Group, a city-wide initiative to bring together statutory, academic and voluntary sector partners.

We also had the support of Shahid Mohammed at the Bristol event, who gave a presentation about the development of BME Health and Wellbeing in Rochdale.

Research engagement

Part of the project was to influence the research agenda in both being better at involving and recording black and minority ethnic people within large-scale studies, and making the case for specific research on dementia and black and minority ethnic communities.

The Foundation had specific meetings with Joint Dementia Research, the National Institute of Health Research, and Alzheimer's Research UK, as well as the British Heart Foundation. There was also engagement with the Stroke Association.

The meeting with Joint Dementia Research led to further discussions about how they could best improve the ethnic representation within their research cohorts, which was then progressed through the NIHR in their work with local research centres. We

are currently in discussion with Prof Richard Cheston at UWE about further developing the evidence base on ethnicity and talking forward a more significant piece of work.

The work with Alzheimer's Research allowed us to test out one of their products, a translated leaflet explaining the basics of dementia. These were brought to the events and distributed, and we were also able to provide feedback on the font and design of the leaflet to make it more useful.

We were also able to engage with a number of researchers from various institutions working in this area. This helped in development of briefings as well as identifying resources. Discussions with many of them has also led to the suggestion that a virtual network could be developed. Possible participants are listed in the box below.

Possible participants in research network on Dementia and BAME Communities

Prof. Jyoti Choudrie, Professor of Information Systems, University of Hertfordshire Moïse Roche, Division of Psychiatry, University College London Dr Sahdia Parveen, Centre for Applied Dementia Studies, Bradford Eleanor van den Heuvel, Ageing Studies, Brunel University Dr Richard Cheston, Health and Social Sciences, UWE Dr Karan Jutlla, School of Nursing and Midwifery, De Montfort University Dr Jonathan Koffman, Reader in Palliative Care, King's College London Prof. Jan Oyebode, University of Bradford Dr Jo Moriarty, King's College London Dr David Hewson, Professor of Health and Ageing, University of Bedford Subitha Baghirathan, UWE Dr Mary Tilki

Themes from the events

Throughout the events a number of common themes emerged from the conversations we had. These were not necessarily the same in each area, but do reflect the general issues being surfaced and some of the ways in which these are being addressed.

Carers

We managed to secure the involvement of carers in several of the community events. However, carers are still largely invisible, with few specific services to support black and minority ethnic carers. Where these do exist, they are largely part of a more inclusive local service or part of a specific black and minority ethnic-focused organisation or project. Similarly, Tide is an organisation for carers of people with dementia, and has done work with black and minority ethnic carers. Carers still face barriers to participating, with three carer speakers having to drop out of one of the events due to a range of issues. In Bristol we heard how carers experience isolation within the family and within the community.

Gender

The gendered nature of caring was something that came up quite often in discussions. Women provide the overwhelming amount of unpaid care within families, often in their role as wives or eldest daughters. Similarly, one person explained how their mother developed dementia and its effect on her behaviour, which became more aggressive and



in itself became a barrier to services and a source of isolation.

Stigma

Stigma was discussed at all the events. It was felt that while it was important not to overstate it as a factor in inequalities compared to the newness of dementia for many black and minority ethnic communities, it is still a factor in people and families seeking help and support at an early stage. During one discussion with a local radio producer in Peterborough they said they struggled to find black and minority ethnic people with dementia who are able to talk on radio because they have often been diagnosed late and were already too ill to participate. There was also a wariness of diagnosis as reinforcing stigma and becoming a barrier to social inclusion or not

actually resulting in any help being given. The work being done by the Chinese National Health Living Centre in changing the language and vocabulary used in the community to a more positive and supportive

New technologies

The presentation from Alex Jadevji in Birmingham outlined how technology could be deployed to support black and minority ethnic people with dementia. These were ideas he and his wife developed as a result of one of their parents living with dementia. They included, for example, remote communication and monitoring so that family members can check in and check on people – even if they live in another country. The use of 'smart' technologies also means information can be shared with the relevant family and services.

Inequality

Inequalities between and within communities were noted at all events. Poorer and more isolated communities particularly struggled. For example, in presenting her research on Bristol, Subitha Baghirathan noted the differences between the more middle-class Sikh Asian communities, who were keen to get more information and to access services, and more working class Pakistani Muslim communities who were less likely to have information about dementia and had worse access to services. Smaller and newer communities, such as the Chinese and Somali communities, were less likely to be provided for. For example this could be because their numbers were not sufficient to have services commissioned in the case of Chinese communities, or because the relatively young Somali population meant demand for dementia services is currently quite low and easily lumped in with other communities rather than specifically commissioned.

There were clear differences between areas of England. While places such as Leeds and Bristol had several organisations working on dementia and black and minority ethnic communities, in other parts such as Peterborough there was just one worker employed by the local Alzheimer's Society and no specific black-led VCSE organisations we could find.

Workforce

People across the board, general public and professionals know very little about Dementia, this applies even to people who may have a relatively key role for example in teams providing services to people living with Dementia. People feeling they also knew very little about cultural issues impacting on dementia care, especially people from BAME communities feeling professionals lacked cultural understanding. Knowledge of dementia policy or NICE guidance was particularly poor. The events attracted few commissioners, doctors and nurses. This is important as undiagnosed people from BAME communities living with Dementia will be seeing clinical staff on a regular basis as their other health co-morbidities spin out of control as a result of their dementia.

Commissioning

Local services and partnerships are at different stages. However, this does not necessarily reflect the level of need in those localities. Bristol's city-wide work is bringing together a range of partnerships from the statutory and voluntary and community sector, and is supporting by an evidence base developed by local researchers from the University of West England. Leeds had a strong set of community organisations working together and able to influence local services. By contrast, Peterborough was at a relatively earlier stage. Some areas had commissioners who were engaged and responsive to local needs and others had a much poorer relationship. One of the suggestions to come out of the Leeds event, where a commissioner attended, was to develop a co-commissioning guide for NHS and Local Authority commissioners along a staged path to better services for black and minority ethnic people with dementia.

Diagnosis

There were a number of issues relating to diagnosis raised throughout the events. It is clear there are still severe barriers to diagnosis, and particularly timely diagnosis. These range from misdiagnosis through lack of information and understanding, to inappropriate diagnostic tests, and inaccessible memory clinics.

The importance of access to timely and appropriate support following diagnosis was also highlighted. Attendees at the London heard from Ade, who received a diagnosis several years earlier and fell into a period of depression and alcohol abuse. However, he had a supportive network and accessed services that could help him do the things he wants to do – maintaining an active social life, holidays to France, and trips out. This contrasted with the experience of another service user, Ronald Ferguson, who continues to struggle to bring together the people and services he needs to support him. This has created conflict and stress in his life, whereas he would rather be focused on the things that he enjoys. However, both Ronald and Ade could have benefited from better post-diagnosis support.

Prevention

In several of the events we prompted discussion of prevention and risk-reduction. It was clear there was a poor understanding of risk-reduction and dementia, with many people still believing that it was an inevitable part of ageing, or an unpreventable

disease. There was a fatalism, 'they are working on all these cures, but it's too late for my mum' often linked to feeling nothing could be done other than wait for a pharmacological cure.

Specialist Housing

The role of housing is something that is being recognised. One of the Birmingham presenters, Dr Chauhan, is developing a proposal for an 'extra care village' that can provide specific support for black and minority ethnic people living with dementia. There were also workers present from housing associations and their support services who attended the Leeds professional event. Previous work from Age UK and the National Housing Federation has also highlighted the ways in which housing associations, both black-led and mainstream, are supporting black and minority ethnic people with dementia.

VCSE role

The value of services provided by the voluntary sector was recognised across the events. At a local level, the VCSE is often meeting unmet or under-met needs within black and minority ethnic communities. Organisations such as BME Health and Wellbeing and Yecco have emerged because of the experiences of their founders, and the solutions they have developed. Shahid Mohammed, founder of BME Health and Wellbeing, started as a carer for his mother – who had vascular dementia, but was misdiagnosed and had poor experiences of services. Alex and Janet Jadavji used their experience of caring to develop some technological solutions to the challenges faced by people living with dementia. Nubian Life changed and adapted from a luncheon club to a care organisation for Caribbean elders. The challenge is in ensuring good quality in statutory services, and supporting the development of voluntary sector services in areas beyond those already mentioned.

Similarly, larger and/or organisations that a serving a more general section of the community, such as Touchstone Support and Tide, have developed and supported projects and services at a local level to address the needs of black and minority ethnic people.

At a national level, the voluntary sector plays an important role in supporting and amplifying the voice of black and minority ethic people with dementia and their families and carers. The project itself reflects the growing recognition of race equality and dementia among policy-makers as a result of lobbying, events, and briefings. However, it is important to recognise that many of these organisations are increasingly fragile and overstretched due to funding pressures and increasing demand. Where funding is available, it is still often short-term and unable to support the development of a sustainable service.

What next

The project was intended to take forward a significant part of the action plan developed following the October 2016 Roundtable. It has succeeded in doing both that and laying the foundations for further work agreed as part of the plan. In order to take forward the rest of the plan, resources need to be found within the health and care system.

Various potential future work streams were also identified or emerged as part of this work. The need to improve commissioning, potentially through the development of a co-commissioning guide for local government and health services, was underlined by commissioners who wanted to see clear guidance on how they can steadily improve services for black and minority ethnic people. Similarly, the development of regional and national networks to support black and minority ethnic carers would make a significant difference to unpaid, mostly female, family carers who can easily become isolated.

Developing the appropriate health, care and support infrastructure is crucial. Housing, for example, has had relatively little attention, but will be vital for ensuring people living with dementia can continue to live in familiar and supportive environments.

While the focus of the project was on people with dementia, prevention was identified as increasingly important. Further work to improve understanding of how dementia risk can be reduced and how that can reduce inequalities between and within groups should be a priority.

The Bristol model of bringing together local services and partners, commissioning research, and then using that partnership to support change, could provide a useful blueprint for the development of other areas in responding to the needs of black and minority ethnic people with dementia. Supported at a national level through delivery of the action plan, such local partnerships could deliver real change in access and quality of services.

Recommendations

The fragility of small and local black and minority ethnic voluntary sector organisations needs to be addressed. At least two of the organisations we worked with were on the brink of collapse. System partners need to examine how they can support existing organisations and encourage their development in areas where there is a clear need.

System partners should support the continued development of a coordinating voice for black and minority ethnic people living with dementia.

Voluntary sector organisations are well-placed to deliver awareness-raising sessions, and system partners need to consider how that can be supported with the aim to reduce rates of late diagnosis.

Professionals need better awareness of dementia. System partners and workers in other public services need a clearer understanding of what dementia is, and what their role is in prevention, diagnosis, and care.

System partners should look to develop co-commissioning guidance in collaboration with local government and the voluntary sector. This could set out manageable steps to improve services and build success over a period of time.

System partners need to continue to encourage the research community to pay greater attention to race and ethnicity in research on dementia. The apparent lack of even inclusion of race and ethnicity as a category of data in several significant studies is concerning.

System partners need to help address the lack of support for carers, particularly the lack of a coordinating voice for black and minority ethnic carers that could hold services to account, support the development of local groups and influence policy and practice.

Appendix – Resources

Support and Care for People Living with Dementia from Minority Communities'

http://www.ncl.ac.uk/media/wwwnclacuk/instituteforageing/files/dementia-inminority-communities-support.pdf

Diversity and inclusiveness in dementia : listening event report, Salford, Salford Institute for Dementia

http://usir.salford.ac.uk/35270/1/Diversity-and-Inclusiveness-in-Dementia-report.pdf

Wake Up London! – The case for a London regional investment strategy to develop appropriate information and services for black, Asian and minority ethnic people living with dementia

https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/wake-up-london.pdf

What do we know about the attitudes, experiences and needs of Black and minority ethnic carers of people with dementia in the United Kingdom? A systematic review of empirical research findings

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1471301214534424

Black & minority ethnic older people - health and social care

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_pdf/Library-reading-list-BME-older-people-Nov2014.pdf

Perceptions of dementia and use of services in minority ethnic communities: a scoping exercise

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/hsc.12363

Gearing up Housing Associations' responses to tenants with dementia from black and minority ethnic groups

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-andpublications/reports-and-briefings/safe-athome/rb oct15 diversity dementia gearing up.pdf

Briefing paper 30

• Adelman, S, Blanchard, M & Livingston, G, (2009a) 'A systematic review of the prevalence and covariates of dementia or relative cognitive impairment in the older African-Caribbean population in Britain', International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 24, pp.657–665.

• Adelman S (2009b) Prevalence and Recognition of Dementia in Primary care: A Comparison of Older African-Caribbean and White British Residents of Haringey. http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/19622/1/19622.pdf

• Adelman, S, Blanchard, M, Greta Rai, G, Leavey, G & Livingston, G (2011) Prevalence of dementia in African–Caribbean compared with UK-born White older people: two-stage cross-sectional study. <u>http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/199/2/119.long</u>

• Banerjee, S & Wittenberg, R (2009) Clinical and cost effectiveness of services for early diagnosis and intervention in dementia.

http://ec.europa.eu/health/archive/ph_information/dissemination/diseases/docs/de mentia_cost_en.pdf

• Banerjee, S & Lawrence, V (2010) Managing dementia in a multicultural society, Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

• Bhattacharyya, S & Benbow, S M (2012) Mental health services for black and minority ethnic elders in the United Kingdom: a systematic review of innovative practice with service provision and policy implications, International Psychogeriatrics.

• Bhattacharyya, S, Benbow, S M & Kar, N (2012) 'Unmet Service Needs of Ethnic Elders with Dementia in United Kingdom', Indian Journal of Gerontology, 26(1), pp.242-258. • Blood, I & Bamford, S M (2010) Equality and diversity and older people with high support needs. <u>http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/supporting-older-people-full.pdf</u>

 Botsford, J, Clarke, C L, & Gibb, C E, (2012) 'Dementia and relationships: experiences of partners in minority ethnic communities', Journal of Advanced Nursing, 68(10) pp.2207-2217.
Crosby, G (2004) Developing Policy and Practice for Older People in London. <u>http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa/CPA_ALG_Briefing_final.pdf</u>

• Curtis L (2012) Unit Costs for Health and Social Care. http://www.pssru.ac.uk/project-pages/unit-costs/2012/

• Department of Health (2009a) Living well with dementia: A National Dementia Strategy.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/16 8221/dh_094052.pdf

• Department of Health (2009b) Joint Commissioning Framework: National Dementia Strategy.

http://www.dhcarenetworks.org.uk/ library/Resources/Dementia/National Dement ia Strategy - Joint Commissioning Framework.pdf • Department of Health (South East) (2011) Living well with dementia: A National Dementia Strategy Good Practice Compendium – an assets approach.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21 5822/dh_123475.pdf

• Department of Health (2012) Prime Minister's challenge on dementia: Delivering major improvements in dementia care and research by 2015.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21 5101/dh_133176.pdf

• Department of Health (2013) The Prime Minister's Challenge on Dementia: Delivering major improvements in dementia care and research by 2015: Annual report of progress.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/20 0030/9535-TSO-2900951- PM_Challenge_Dementia_ACCESSIBLE.PDF

• Healthcare for London (2009) Dementia Services Guide Appendix 9: Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA). <u>http://www.londonhp.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/09-</u> <u>Dementia-EqIA.pdf</u>

• Jackson, C (2008) 'Spreading the word', Mental Health Today. • Jackson, D, (2013) Patient Navigation in a Tertiary Pediatric Healthcare Setting: A Promising Practice for Eliminating Healthcare Disparities. 2013 Doug Jackson diversity rx FINAL.pdf

• Jolley, D, Moreland, N, Read, K, & Kaur, H, (2009) The 'Twice a Child' projects: learning about dementia and related disorders within the black and minority ethnic population of an English city and improving relevant services. <u>http://www.pavilionjournals.co.uk/dev/eihscflyer/downloads/EIHSC-2.4.pdf</u>

• Jutlla, K (2013) 'Ethnicity and cultural diversity in dementia care: a review of the research', Journal of Dementia Care, 21:2 April/June pp.33-9.

 Jutlla, K & Moreland, N (2009) 'The personalisation of dementia services and existential realities: understanding Sikh carers caring for an older person with dementia in Wolverhampton', Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care, 2(4), pp.10 – 21.

• Kaur, H (2010) How a link nurse ensured equal treatment for people of Asian origin with dementia. <u>http://www.nursingtimes.net/how-a-link-nurse-ensured-equal-treatment-for-people-of-asian-origin-with-dementia/5016160.article</u>

• Knapp, M, McDaid, D & Parsonage, M (eds.) (2011) Mental health promotion and mental illness prevention: The economic case.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21 5626/dh_126386.pdf

• Lakey, L, Chandaria, K, Quince, C, Kane, M, and Saunders, T (2012) Dementia 2012: A national challenge.

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/download_info.php?downloadID=821

• Lievesley, N (2010) The Future Ageing of the Ethnic Minority Population of England and Wales.

http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/thefutureageingoftheethnicminoritypo pulationofenglandandwales.pdf

• Lievesley, N (2013) The ageing of the ethnic minority populations of England and Wales: findings from the 2011 census.

http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/theageingoftheethnicminoritypopulationsofenglandandwales-findingsfromthe2011census.pdf

• Livingston, G, Leavey, G, Kitchen, G, Manela, M, Sembhi, S & Katona, C (2001) Mental health of migrant elders - the Islington Study. <u>http://bjp.rcpsych.org/cgi/pmidlookup?view=long&pmid=11581119</u>

• Moriarty, J, Sharif N & Robinson J, (2011) Black and minority ethnic people with dementia and their access to support and services. http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/briefings/files/briefing35.pdf

• Mukadam, N, Cooper, C, Basit, B & Livingston, G (2011) 'Why do ethnic elders present later to UK dementia services? A qualitative study', International Psychogeriatrics, 23(7), pp1070-1077.

• NHS Commissioning Support for London (2011) Dementia Services Guide Appendix 15 Scoping Report Availability and accessibility of materials and research evidence on Dementia in Black and Minority Ethnic and Refugee (BMER) Communities to support achievement of the dementia services guide objectives in London.

http://www.londonhp.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/15-Scoping-Report-and-Resources-Handbook.pdf

• Office of National Statistics (July 2013) DC2101EW - Ethnic group by sex by age. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/search/index.html?pageSize=50&sortBy=none&sortDire</u> <u>ction=none&newquery=DC2101EW</u>

• Oomen, G, Bashford, J & Shah, A (2009) Ageing, ethnicity and psychiatric services. http://pb.rcpsych.org/content/33/1/30.full • Orr, K, Botsford, J & Efstathiou, K (2013) 'Tom's Clubs: time together', Journal of Dementia Care, 21(4) pp18-19.

• Patel, N (1999) 'Black and Minority Ethnic Elderly: Perspectives on Long-Term Care' in With respect to old age : long term care - rights and responsibilities : a report by the Royal Commission on Long Term Care. <u>http://www.archive.official-</u> <u>documents.co.uk/document/cm41/4192/4192.htm</u>

• Patel, N & Traynor, P (2006) Developing Extra Care Housing for Black and Minority Ethnic Elders: an overview of the issues, examples and challenges. <u>http://www.dhcarenetworks.org.uk/ library/Resources/Housing/Housing advice/Developing Extra Care Housing for BME Elders March 2006.pdf</u>

• Quince, C (2013) Demography, Alzheimer's Society website. http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents_info.php?documentID=412

• Regan, J, Bhattacharyya, S, Kevern, P & Rana, T (2013) 'A systematic review of religion and spiritual care pathways in black and minority ethnic populations', Mental Health, Religion and Culture, 16(1), pp1-15.

• Royal College of Psychiatrists College (2009) Psychiatric services for Black and minority ethnic older people

http://www.mhima.org.au/pdfs/Psychiatric Services %20BME Older.pdf

• Rush, C (2012) Return on Investment From Employment of Community Health Workers, Journal of Ambulatory Care Management, 35(2), pp.133–137.

• Salway S, Turner D, Ghazala M, Carter L, Skinner, J, Bushara, B, Gerrish, K & Ellison, G (2013) High Quality Healthcare Commissioning: Obstacles and opportunities for progress on race equality, Better Health Briefing 28, Race Equality Foundation. <u>http://www.better-</u>

health.org.uk/sites/default/files/briefings/downloads/briefing%2028%20final.pdf

• Seabrooke, V and Milne, M (2004) Culture and care in dementia. A study of the Asian Community in North West Kent, Alzheimer's and Dementia Support Services. http://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/content/assets/PDF/publications/culture care de mentia.pdf

• Seabrooke, V & Milne, M (2009) 'Early intervention in dementia care in an Asian community Lessons from a dementia collaborative project', Quality in Ageing, 10: 4.

• Selman, L, Harding, R, Speck, P P, Robinson, V, Aguma, A, Rhys, A, Kyei-Baffour, N, & Higginson, I J, (2010) Spiritual care recommendations for people from Black and

minority ethnic (BME) groups receiving palliative care in the UK with special reference to the sub-Saharan African population.

http://www.csi.kcl.ac.uk/files/Spiritualcarerecommendations-Fullreport.pdf

• Sewell, H & Waterhouse, S (2012) <u>Making Progress on Race Equality in Mental</u> <u>Health.</u>

• Smith, F & Islam-Barrett, F (2011) Being Heard: Effective Involvement in local Health and Social Care Decisions for the voluntary sector.

http://www.raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/downloa ds/DH%20report%20comments%20(2)%20Final%20check%20(2).pdf

• The Stoke Association (2012) How to Prevent a Stroke: Leaflet 3 Version 1. <u>http://www.stroke.org.uk/sites/default/files/How%20to%20prevent%20a%20stroke</u> <u>0.pdf</u>

• Tilki, Mary (2015) Dementia and cancer in the Irish community in Britain

• Truswell, D (2011) 'Black, minority ethnic and refugee (BMER) communities and the National Dementia Strategy: the London experience', Diversity in Health and Care 8:2, Number 2, June 2011, pp.113-119.

• Truswell, D (2013) 'Black and minority ethnic communities and dementia: Where are we now?'

• Turner, D, Salway, S, Chowbey, P and Mir, G (2012) Mini Case Study Book Real world examples of using evidence to improve health services for minority ethnic people. <u>http://clahrc-</u>

sy.nihr.ac.uk/images/health%20inequalities/resources/EEiC mini case study book. pdf

• Vickers T, Craig G & Atkin K (2012) Research with black and minority ethnic people using social care services.

http://www.lse.ac.uk/LSEHealthAndSocialCare/pdf/SSCR Methods Review 11 web. pdf

• World Health Organization and Alzheimer's Disease International (2012) Dementia: a public health priority.

http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2012/9789241564458_eng.pdf

APPG (2013) Dementia does not discriminate: The experiences of Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities

www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/download_info.php?downloadID=1186

• Asthana, S and Halliday, J (2006) What works in tackling health inequalities? Pathways, policies and practice through the lifecourse, Bristol: Policy Press

• Bhugra, D, (2004) Migration and mental health, Acta Psychiatrica Scandanavica, 109, 4, pp. 243-258

• Botsford, J and Harrison Dening, K (2015) Dementia, culture and ethnicity: Issues for all, London: Jessica Kingsley.

• Bowers, H, Clark, C, Crosby, G, Easterbrook, L, Macadam, A, MacDonald, R, Macfarlane, A, Maclean, M, Patel, M, Runnicles, D, Oshinaike, T and Smith, C (2009) Older people's vision for long-term care, Joseph Rowntree Foundation www.cpa.org.uk/ltc/older-people-vision-for-care-full.pdf

• Clucas, M (2009) 'The Irish health disadvantage in England: contribution of structure and identity components of Irish ethnicity', Ethnicity & Health, 14, 6, pp.553-573

• Centre for Policy on Ageing (CPA) (2013) The ageing of the ethnic minority populations in England and Wales: Findings from the 2011 census <u>www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/theageingoftheethnicminoritypopulationsofen</u> <u>glandandwalesfindingsfromthe2011census.pdf</u>

• Care Quality Commission and National Mental Health Development Unit (CQC/NMHDU) (2010) Count Me In 2010 – The national mental health and learning disability census

www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/count me in 2010 final tagged.pdf

• Delaney, L Fernihough, A and Smith, J (2013) 'Exporting poor health: The Irish in England', Demography, 50, 6, pp.2013-2035 www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/working_papers/2011/RAND_WR863.pdf

• De Ponte, P (2005) Deaths from suicide and undetermined injury in London, London Health Observatory

• Department of Health (DH) (2009) Living well with dementia: A national dementia strategy

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/16 8221/dh_094052.pdf Department of Health (DH) (2010) Improving care and saving money: Learning the lessons on prevention and early intervention for older people https://lemosandcrane.co.uk/resources/DoH%20-%20Improving%20care%
20and%20saving%20money.pdf

• Department of Health (DH) (2012) The impact of patient age on clinical decisionmaking in oncology

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21 5155/dh_133095.pdf

• Downs, M, Turner, S, Bryans, M, Wilcock, J, Keady, J, Levin, E, O, Carroll, R, Howie, K and Iliffe, S, (2006) 'Effectiveness of educational interventions in improving detection and management of dementia in primary care: cluster randomised controlled study', British Medical Journal, 332, 7543, pp.692-696 www.bmj.com/content/332/7543/692

• Federation of Irish Societies (FIS) (2010) Mapping Services for Elders within the Irish Community A factsheet analysing elders' services, with particular focus on lunch club provision and dementia services

www.irishinbritain.org/cmsfiles/Publications/Factsheets/Elders-Services.pdf

 Federation of Irish Societies (FIS) (2012) Degrees of ethnic inclusion: Measuring BME/BAME inclusion in JSNAs with particular attention to the Irish http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/CurrentVersion/Degrees %20of%20Ethnic%20Inclusion%20in %20JSNA's.pdf

• Hickman, M and Walter, B (1997) Discrimination and the Irish community in Britain, London, Commission for Racial Equality

• Irish in Britain (2013) Degrees of ethnic inclusion revisited: Analysing Irish inclusion in JSNAs www.irishinbritain.org/cmsfiles/Publications/Reports/JSNA-Report-FINAL-pdf.pdf

• LeedsGATE (2013) Gypsy and Traveller health – who pays? www.leedsgate.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/ 2013/06/Cost-Benefit-Analysis-report-Gypsy-and-Traveller-Health-Pathways.pdf

• London Health Observatory (LHO) (2006) Hospital admissions for selected primary diagnoses and causes by ethnicity for London April 2003- March 2006 www.lho.org.uk/viewResource.aspx?id=10265

• Maynard, M, Rosato, M, Teyhan, A and Harding, S (2012) 'Trends in suicide among migrants in England and Wales 1979-2003', Ethnicity and Health, 17, 1-2, pp.135-140 www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3379783

• Mc Gahern, J (1990) Amongst women, London: Faber and Faber

• Moore, J, Waters, E, Tilki, M and Clarke, L (2012) Fresh Perspectives: A needs analysis of the Irish community in London, London Irish Centre/Federation of Irish Societies <u>www.irishinbritain.org/cmsfiles/Publications/freshperspectives-final-web.pdf</u>

• Mukadam, N, Cooper, C, Basit, B and Livingston, G (2011) 'Why do ethnic elders present later to UK dementia services? A qualitative study', International Psychogeriatrics, 23, 7, pp. 1070-1077

• Mukadam, N, Cooper, C and Livingston, G (2013) 'Improving access to dementia services for people from minority ethnic groups', Current Opinion in Psychiatry, 26, 4, pp. 409-414 <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4222802/pdf/coip-26-409.pdf</u>

• Mulligan, E (2007) Irish people with dementia in Leeds. An internal report for Leeds Irish Health and Homes, Leeds: Leeds Irish Health and Homes

• Parry, G, Van Cleemput, P, Peters, J, Walters, S, Thomas, K and Copper, C (2007) 'Health status of Gypsies and Travellers in England', Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 61, 3, pp. 198–204 http://iech.hmi.com/content/61/3/198 full.pdf+html

http://jech.bmj.com/content/61/3/198.full.pdf+html

• Public Health England (PHE) (2014) From evidence to action: Opportunities to protect and improve the nation's health

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/36 6852/PHE_Priorities.pdf

• Policy Institute for Ageing and Ethnicity (PRIAE) (2005) Black and minority ethnic elders in the UK: Health and social care research findings www.better-health.org.uk/sites/default/files/consultations/responses/3_PRIAE_MEC_UK__Resea rch_Summary_ Findings_Launched_UK_Presidency_Oct_2005.pdf

• Royal College of Psychiatrists (RCP) (2009) Psychiatric services for black and minority ethnic older people, CR156 www.rcpsych.ac.uk/files/pdfversion/CR156.pdf

• Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) (2012) Access all ages: assessing the impact of age on access to surgical treatment https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/publications/docs/access-all-ages/@@download/pdffile/access-all-ages.pdf

• Ryan, L, Leavey, G, Golden, A, Blizard, R and King, M (2006) 'Depression in Irish migrants living in London. A case control study', British Journal of Psychiatry, 188, 6, pp. 560–566 <u>http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/188/6/560.fulltext.pdf</u>

• Ryan, L, D'Angelo, A, Puniskis, M and Kaye, N (2014) Analysis of 2011 Census data. Irish community statistics, England and selected urban areas: report of England, Irish in Britain, Middlesex University

www.irishinbritain.org/cmsfiles/Downloads/Reports/Irish-Census-Analysis-Report-London.pdf

• Salway, S, Turner, D, Mir, G, Carter, L, Skinner, J, Bushara, B, Gerrrish, Kand Ellison, G (2013a) High quality healthcare commissioning: Why race equality must be at its heart, Better Health Briefing 27, Race Equality Foundation www.better-health.org.uk/briefings/high-quality-healthcare-commissioning-why-race-equalitymust-be-its-heart-0 12

• Salway, S, Turner, D, Mir, G, Carter, L, Skinner, J, Bushara, B, Gerrrish, K and Ellison, G (2013b) High quality healthcare commissioning: Obstacles and opportunities for progress and race equality, Better Health Briefing 28, Race Equality Foundation www.raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/publications/downloads/high-quality-healthcarecommissioning-obstacles-and-opportunities-progress-ra

• Tilki, M (2003) A study of the health of Irish born people in London: The relevance of social and economic factors, health beliefs and behaviour, Unpublished PhD thesis, London: Middlesex University

• Tilki M, Ryan L, D'Angelo, A, Sales, R (2009) The Forgotten Irish: report of a research project commissioned by Ireland Fund of Great Britain, Ireland Fund of Great Britain http://eprints.mdx.ac.uk/6350/1/Tilki-Forgotten_Irish.pdf

• Tilki, M, Mulligan, E, Pratt, E, Halley, E and Taylor, E (2010) 'Older Irish people with dementia in England', Advances in Mental Health, 9, 3, pp. 21-232

• Tilki, M, Thompson, R, Robinson, L, Bruce, J, Chan, E, Lewis, O, Chinegwondoh, F and Nelson, H (2015) 'The BME third sector: marginalised and exploited', Voluntary Sector Review, 6, 1, pp.93-101

www.irishinbritain.org/cmsfiles/Downloads/Health/The-BME-Third-Sector-Marginalised-and-Exploited.pdf

• Tóibín, C (2014) Nora Webster, London. Penguin

• Truswell, D (2013) Black and minority ethnic communities and dementia – where are we now?, Better Health Briefing Paper 20, Race Equality Foundation <u>www.better-</u>

health.org.uk/briefings/black-and-minority-ethnic-communities-anddementia-whereare-we-now

• Weich, S, Nazroo, J, Sproston, K, Mc Manus, S, Blanchard, M, Erens, B, Karlsen, S, King, M, Lloyd, K, Stansfeld, S and Tyrer, P (2004) 'Common mental disorders and ethnicity in England: the EMPIRIC study', Psychological Medicine, 34, 8, pp. 1543-1551

http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/246/1/WRAP Weich download Common Mental.pdf

• World Health Organisation (WHO) (2014) Tobacco and Dementia <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/128041/1/WHO_NMH_PND_CIC_TKS_14.1</u> <u>eng.pdf</u>

Literature Review: Dementia in Gypsy and Traveller Communities

General

Tilki, M (2016) 'Dementia in Gypsies and Travellers: a brief guide for commissioners and providers' Leeds GATE, Irish in Britain, Irish Memory Loss Alliance. <u>http://travellerstimes.org.uk/UserFiles/Files/Dementia-in-Gypsies-and-Travellers.pdf</u>

Tilki, M. (2016) 'Dementia among Gypsies and Travellers' The Journal of Dementia Care, July / August 2016, Volume 24, Number 4.

https://d3gxp3iknbs7bs.cloudfront.net/attachments/4bbf837d-068d-43c1-8aacdb1e99da0c76.pdf

Tilki, M. (2016) 'Reaching out effectively to Gypsies and Travellers' The Journal of Dementia Care, September / October 2016, Volume 24, Number 5. http://www.irishinbritain.org/cmsfiles/Reaching-Out-to-Gypsy-Travellers.pdf

Tilki, M., (2015) 'Dementia in Gypsy and Traveller Communities' Leeds GATE news, 7th September 2015, <u>http://leedsgate.co.uk/dementia-gypsy-and-traveller-communities</u>

Leeds GATE (2016) 'Memory loss in Gypsies and Travellers' Visual notes by artist Tom Bailey at the launch of the new best practice guide, "Dementia in Gypsies and Travellers", by Leeds GATE and Irish In Britain.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=w0TwxFD5tVk

Prior, P. (2013) 'Support and care for people living with dementia from minority communities' February 2013, North East Dementia Alliance. <u>http://www.ncl.ac.uk/media/wwwnclacuk/instituteforageing/files/dementia-in-minority-communities-support.pdf</u> Marshall, M., Tibbs, M. (2006) 'Social Work and People with Dementia, Second Edition: Partnerships, Practice and Persistence' Policy Press, 8 Nov 2006.

https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=Sd81DwAAQBAJ&pg=PA59&lpg=PA59&dq=iris h+travellers+dementia&source=bl&ots=1T47v20hgt&sig=5tY5xLJYQbmxDwE0_SOhW sb4H90&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwj-

hvze0ObXAhWJHsAKHamUAkI4ChDoAQhIMAg#v=onepage&q=irish%20travellers%20 dementia&f=false

Ageing

Centre for Policy on Ageing (2016) 'Diversity in older age – Gypsies and Travellers' Centre for Policy on Ageing – Rapid Review,

http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/CPA-Rapid-Review-Diversity-in-Older-Age-Ethnic-Minorities-Gypsies-and-Travellers.pdf

Lane, P., Spencer, S., McCready, M. (2012) 'Perspectives on ageing in Gypsy families' Joseph Rowntree Foundation, January 2012.

https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/ageing-in-gypsy-familiessummary.pdf

Lane, P., Tribe, R., (2010) 'Towards an understanding of the cultural health needs of older gypsies (sic)', Working with Older People, Vol. 14 Issue: 2, pp.23-30, <u>https://doi.org/10.5042/wwop.2010.0264</u>

Projects

Pavee Point and the Alzheimer's Society of Ireland, Republic of Ireland <u>https://www.alzheimer.ie/Get-Involved/Dementia-Friendly-Communities/Dementia-Friendly-Projects/Traveller-Education-Training-Pavee-Point.aspx</u>

Outcomes:

- An <u>information poster</u> about the signs and symptoms of dementia was produced for use by primary health care workers for the Traveller Community
- As a result of the training from The Society perspective we understood more about the resources that are needed to improve awareness about dementia in the Traveller Community but also a deeper understanding of the needs of Travellers and the issues they are faced with

Accommodation

Hodges, N., Cemlyn, S., (2013) The Accommodation Experiences of Older Gypsies and Travellers: Personalisation of Support and Coalition Policy, Social Policy and Society,

Volume 12, Issue 2, April 2013, p.p. 205-219, https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474746412000413

In the press

Alzheimer's Society (2015) 'A family who changed their travelling lifestyle to help support a father with dementia' January 2015.

https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/info/20159/jan 2015/638/a family who changed t heir travelling lifestyle to help support a father with dementia

The Telegraph (2012) 'Nurse faces sack for 'cutting gypsy's hair'' (sic) 7th February 2012. <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/health/news/9066341/Nurse-faces-sack-for-cutting-gypsys-hair.html</u>

Videos

Race and dementia – Runnymede Trust: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FKjtO4WiPvM

Dementia services in Tower Hamlets: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xGzyYEps-bw</u>

Getting to know the person with dementia: the importance of memories – SCIE: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ze1A3EWMQcY

News Articles

Why black and minority ethnic communities need targeted dementia services - <u>https://www.theguardian.com/social-care-network/2014/sep/18/black-minority-</u>ethnic-communities-dementia-services

Dementia: the untold story of our BME population

https://www.hsj.co.uk/commissioning/dementia-the-untold-story-of-our-bmepopulation/5067082.article

Cultural barriers to dementia care

https://www.yorkshirepost.co.uk/news/analysis/cultural-barriers-to-dementia-care-1-8317915 Read more at: <u>https://www.yorkshirepost.co.uk/news/analysis/cultural-barriers-to-dementia-care-1-8317915</u>